## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS THE STATE OF MISSIS SIPPI

KENTRIAL BELK

COPY
APPELLANT

VS.

SUPREME COURT CAUSE NO. 2007-KY-U2170-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**APPELLEE** 

**BRIEF FOR APPELLANT** 

AUG 2 0 2008

# **STATEMENT OF INCARCERATION**

The Appellant is presently incarcerated and is being housed in the Mississippi Department of Corrections in service of a 10 year prison term imposed by the trial court on two separate convictions and sentences. Appellant has been continuously confined since the date of sentencing.

## STATEMENT OF CASE

Belk was sentenced by the Circuit Court of Clay County, Mississippi, on July 11, 2006, to a term of ten (10) years imprisonment, Such sentence was imposed by the court upon a plea of guilty, which was based upon ineffective assistance of counsel which resulted in Belk being convicted of a crime which was not supported by a valid indictment. Appellant was grossly misrepresented during the trial court proceedings.

In regards to the post conviction motion, which is on appeal by this case, the trial court never addressed any claim presented in the motion and specifically stated that the motion had no merit and should be denied. This Court should find that such actions constitute a ruling on the merits of every claim and issue presented. The trial court should have conducted an evidentiary hearing.

The summarily denial of the PCR should not suffice and should require a reversal.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On October 5, 2005 a criminal indictment was filed against Appellant Belk charging him with the criminal offense of two counts of sale of a controlled substance in Clay County, Mississippi. Honorable Thad Buck represented Appellant and advised Appellant to plead guilty. Appellant entered such plea on the advice of his attorney without consulting the indictment to learn the indictment was factually defected where information had been added after the grand jury proceeding, the name Debra Cunningham. Defense counsel never mentioned this critical information to Appellant before advising a plea of guilty.

Upon the filing of the post conviction relief motion in this case the trial court denied relief without conducting an evidentiary hearing or requiring the state of Mississippi to file an answer to the well pleaded facts and claims set out in the PCR motion.

## **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

In reviewing a trial court's decision to deny a motion for post-conviction relief the standard of review is clear. The trial court's denial will not be reversed absent a finding that the trial court's decision was clearly erroneous. <u>Kirksey v</u> <u>State</u>, 728 So.2d 565, 567 (Miss. 1999).

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in finding that the claims in the PCR were without merit where the court did not conduct as evidentiary hearing and never stated any authority to demonstrate that Appellant need not be advised by the indictment of the element of who the state was alleging the drugs had been sold to.

## STATEMENT OF THE CLAIMS

- 1. Belk raised his fundamental Federal and State Constitutional Right not to be tried for a felony without being indicted. Hennington v. State, 702 So.2d 403, 407 (Miss. 1997); MCA 99-39-5(1)(b); MS Art. III, 27; 5th Amendment, Hawthorne v. State, 751 So.2d 1090, 1094 (Miss. 1999); Burchfield v. State, 277 So.2d 623 (Miss. 1973), Durr v. State, 446 So.2d 1016 (Miss. 1984).
- 2. Belk states that the Mississippi Supreme Court has held "in order to be sufficient, the indictment must contain the essential elements of the offense with which the accused is charged, thereby, whether this indictment was fatally

defective is an issue of law and deserves a relatively <u>Broad Standard Review</u>...? <u>Tucker v. Hinds County</u>, 558 So.2d 869, 872 (Miss. 1990);

- 3. Belk states that his counsel was ineffective for failing to raise or file an motion to dismiss his original indictment because of the omission in the original indictment of an essential element of the crime of sale of cocaine.

  Sanderson v. State, 881 So.2d 878, 881 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004). Strickland v. Washington, (Failure to demur to the indictment does not constitute a waiver.)

  Copeland v. State, 423 So.2d 1383 (Miss. 1982); Brewer v. State, 351 So.2d 535 (Miss. 1977).
- 4. Belk states that the trial court committed plain error by allowing and proceeding under the amended indictment when there was no motion or order filed to allow such an alteration (writting in the individual name: "Debra Cunningham"). Such alteration of the indictment constituted an amendment to the indictment which required leave of the grand jury where adding a name to the indictment was an amendment of substance. Such an addition thereby amended the indictment and clearly reflected adding new information to meet an essential element for the crime of sale of cocaine which was not contained in the indictment returned by the grand jury. Such addition to the indictment played a major role in the decision by Belk to plead guilty. Such an amendment was illegal and should invalidate the plea of guilty since the amendment was the driving force behind

Belk's decision when advised by his attorney that the indictment was legal.

Russel v. United State, 369 U.S. 749, 769-71, 82 S. Ct. 1038, 1050-51 (1962);

Stirone v. United States, 361 U.S. 212, 215-16, 80 S. Ct. 270, 272-73 (1960);

Towner v. State, 812 So.2d 1109 (Mississippi 2002).

5. Belk states that, under the language of the initial indictment, which stated no name of any person the alleged drugs were sole to, he is actually innocence of the crimes of sale of cocaine and sale of marihuana, as per original indicted, and if he is deprived of an opportunity to be heard on the merits, would the state's action run afoul to the due process clause of the U. S. constitution, and this would result in a fundamental miscarriage of justice?

### **CLAIM I**

The systemic concerns of both Fairness and Efficiency require that if a defendant/petitioner allege that his present Sentence is <u>Illegal</u>, this defendant/petitioner (Belk) is not subject to the State's Time Bar. <u>Weaver v.</u>

<u>State</u>, 785 So.2d 1058, 1087 (Miss. 2001) Errors affecting Fundamental

Constitutional Rights may be <u>excepted</u> from Procedural Bars which would otherwise Prohibit their consideration. <u>Gray v. State</u>, 819 So.2d 542, 544 (Miss. 2002); <u>Ivy v. State</u> 731 So.2d 601, 602 (Miss. 1999); <u>Luckett v. State</u>, 582 So.2d 428, 43 (Miss. 1991). Belk states that he's entitle to have his claims considered on

the merits because the right to be free from an <u>Illegal Sentence</u> has been found to be Fundamental.

Another contrary indication is that the Post-Conviction Relief Status likely are unnecessary to attack an Illegal Sentence. Correction of an improper Sentence is a Fundamental Constitutional Right (5th Amendment) and cannot be restricted by the Successive Motion or Statute of Limitation Bar Rules of the Post-Conviction Relief Status. Sneed, 722 at 1257 Id. If such a Claim is allowed to proceed regardless of specific prohibitions in the Post-Conviction Statutes, then arguable Belk's Right to bring a claim is independent of whatever might be said Statutorily abut Procedure.

Through the Post-Conviction Relief Motion, Belk has a "Procedure, limited in nature, to review those objections, defenses, claims, questions, issues or Errors (Insufficient Indictment) which in practical reality could not be or should not have been raised at trial or on direct appeal." MCA §99-39-3(2)(Rev. 2000). What Belk is attempting, point out to this court is that the indictment in this case was illegally amended to add the name Debra Cunningham. The grand jury never authorized the indictment to be amended. No order to amend was requested nor granted by this court. Belk avers that the Fundamental Constitutional issue here concerns the indictment. (See Exhibit- A)

(The Mississippi Constitution states that "no person shall, for any indictable offense, be proceeded against criminally by information....." Miss. Const. Art. III, 27. Belk contends that his indictment was substantially defective, as for the offense of sale of controlled substance, because the absence of the name Debra Cunningham in the indictment charging sale of controlled substance results in the addition of an element which, when absent as in the initial version of the indictment, would qualify the indictment as being a void instrument on the charge of sales of a controlled substance. <u>Gray v. State</u>, 819 So.2d 542, 544 (Miss. 2002). Therefore, Belk argues that his Conviction and Sentence are Illegal as he was prosecuted by an indictment which was illegally amended by the state without complying with law. Adding Debra Cunningham's name to the indictment was an essential element and constituted substance.

The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that in order to be sufficient, the indictment must contain the essential elements of the crime with which the accused is charged." Hennington v. State, 702 So.2d 403, 407 (Miss. 1997). The indictment is Fundamental, and Belk argues that his indictment was defected; this claim over comes the Successive Motion Bar. Gray, Supra., Simmons v. State, 784 So.2d 985 (Miss. 2001).

Finally, in conclusion of this initial ground, the real question before this court and one which this court must consider is, when fundamental constitutional

rights are at sake, such as the indictment, would Belk be entitled to an evidentiary hearing. Belk should be entitled to such to determine where and when was the indictment amended altered by the state and why defense counsel never objected to such amendment. There is a constitutional right, not to be tried for a felony without being properly indicted for that felony? MCA §99-39-5(1)(b); MS Art. III, 27; 5th Amendment.) (The trial court, in all due respect, did indeed lack jurisdiction to convict or impose said sentence, due to Belk's fatally defective indictment.) See Exhibit A. (This court in reviewing Belk's claim is required to open the gates and Rule on the merits of Belk's following claims. Smith v. State, 725 So.2d 922, 927 (Miss. 1998); (Quick v. State, 569 So.2d 1197 (Miss. 1990).

### **CLAIM II**

It is a well-established principle of Law that in order for an indictment to be sufficient, it must contain the essential elements of the crime charged. May v. State, 209 Miss. 579, 584, 47 So.2d 887 (Miss. 1950). Mississippi Code Annotated 41-29-139defines sale of cocaine as follows:

§ 41-29-139. Prohibited acts; penalties.

- (a) Except as authorized by this article, it is unlawful for any person knowingly or intentionally:
- (1) To sell, barter, transfer, manufacture, distribute, dispense or possess with intent to sell, barter, transfer, manufacture, distribute or dispense, a controlled substance.

Belk contends that since his original typed indictment omitted the name "Debra Cunningham", an essential element of the crime of sale of cocaine and sale of marijuana, the indictment was insufficient when the state attempted to rectify the error by merely writing in the required name with a pen. Such written notation to the indictment was not initialed by the person making the change, as it should have been, and was made after the grand jury had already heard the evidence, returned the indictment, and adjourned. (It is a well-settled principle that the Supreme Court is the "ultimate expositor of the law of the State". UHS-Qualicare, Inc., v. Gulf Coast Community Hospital Inc., 525 So.2d 746, 754 (Miss. 1987). Therefore, this Court conducts Se Novo Review on questions of Law. Tucker v. Hinds County, 558 So.2d 869, 872 (Miss. 1990). So, the question of whether Belk's indictment is fatally defective is an issue of Law and deserves a relatively Broad Standard of Review by this Court!!!)

Belk contends that in the case of <u>Hawthorne v. State</u>, 751 So.2d 1090, 1094 (Miss. 1999), the second Count of Hawthorne's indictment was titled "Aggravated Assault", but defined the charge as follows:

"willfully, unlawfully, knowingly, and feloniously and purposely cause or attempts to cause bodily injury to another, Virgis Tucker, with his fist, by striking her in violation of MCA 97-3-7(2)(1972) ..." (emphasis added).

and the State in this case, <u>Hawthorne</u>, recognizing what they deemed to be a clerical error, made a Motion to the Trial Court to Amend the indictment to add the Word "Serious" as a Modifier of bodily injury. (This Mississippi Supreme Court Rule in this <u>Hawthorne</u> case that it was <u>improper</u> to add an <u>essential element</u> to an indictment. The State failed to include each <u>essential element</u> of the offense in <u>Hawtorne's</u> indictment. The defected was therefore <u>substantive</u> and could not be cured by Amendment; <u>Hawthorne's</u> conviction was Reversed. Belk argues that his conviction and sentence should be Reversed also, as to the <u>precedent</u> in the <u>Hawthorne</u> case.)

(The Supreme Court has held that "in order to be sufficient, the indictment must contain the essential element of the crime with which the accused is charged. Hennington v. State, 702 So.2d 403, 407 (Miss. 1997)).

It is Fundamental... that an indictment, to be effective as such, <u>must</u> set forth the constituent element of a criminal offense; if the facts alleged do not constitute such an offense within the terms and meaning of the Laws on which the accusation if based, or if the facts alleged may all be true and yet constitute no offense, the indictment is <u>insufficient</u>... Every material fact and essential <u>ingredient</u> of the offense-- Every <u>essential element</u> of the offense-- <u>must</u> be alleged with precision and certainty, or, as has been stated, Every fact which is an element in a Prima Facie Case of guilty must be stated in the indictment. Hennington, Supra.

All the authorities are to the effect that an indictment, to be <u>sufficient</u> upon which a Conviction may stand, must set forth the constituent element of a criminal offense. Each and every material fact and essential ingredient of the offense must be with precision and certainly set forth.... <u>Burchfield v. State</u>, 277 So.2d 623, 625 (Miss. 1973); <u>Durr v. State</u>, 446 So.2d 1016 (Miss. 1984).) Belk states that his indictment was insufficient because of the omission of an essential element, the name Debra Cunningham who was the alleged person Belk sold drugs to. The indictment was illegally amended to include this name.

(After an indictment has been returned, its charges may not be broadened through amendment—whether it be by physical alteration, jury instructions, or Bill of Particulars—except by Grand Jury. Russell v. United States, 369 U.S. 749, 769-71, 82 S.Ct. 1038, 1050-51 (1962); Stirone v. United, 361 U.S. 212, 215-16, 80 S.Ct. 270, 272-73 (1960). Simply correcting an obvious clerical error or eliminating surplusage form the text of the indictment may be Harmless Error, but amending the indictment through jury instructions because of the omission of an essential element the name of an individual which must be included in the indictment, constitutes per se Reversible Error. Stirone 80 S. Ct. at 274. The constructive of the defected indictment was Error and could never be acceptable as Harmless Error, because it violated Belks Fifth Amendment Right to be tried only for the offense for which he was under

indictment, and also violated Belk's Sixth Amendment Procedural Due Process

Right to sufficient notice of the specific charges against him. (See Exhibit- A & B).)

(In conclusion of this ground, the Trial Court had no opportunity to Rule on this issue, as it was not presented at any point during the guilty plea hearing this fact is stated for the sake of fairness to the Trial Court; legally, however, Belk's failure to demur to the indictment does not constitute a Waiver. Copeland v. State, 423 So.2d 1333 (Miss. 1982); Brewer v. State, 351 So.2d 535 (Miss. 1977).

Because the omission in the indictment of an essential element of the crime charged s not Waived by failure to demur. Towner v. State, 812 So.2d 1109 (Miss. 2002).)

### **CLAIM III**

Belk states that his counsel was ineffective for failing to raise or file an motion to dismiss his original indictment because of the omission in the original indictment of an essential element of the crime of sale of cocaine. Sanderson v. State, 881 So.2d 878, 881 (Miss. Ct. App. 2004). Strickland v. Washington, (Failure to demur to the indictment does not constitute a waiver.) Copeland v. State, 423 So.2d 1383 (Miss. 1982); Brewer v. State, 351 So.2d 535 (Miss. 1977). In Jackson v. State, 815 So.2d 1196 (Miss. 2002), the Supreme Court held the following in regards to ineffective assistance of counsel:.

In <u>Hiter v. State</u>, 660 So.2d 961, 965 (Miss. 1995), the Supreme Court held that: Our standard of review for a claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is a two-part test: the defendant must prove, under the totality of the circumstances, that (1) his attorney's performance was deficient and (2) the deficiency deprived the defendant of a fair trial. This review is highly deferential to the attorney, with a strong presumption that the attorney's conduct fell within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance. Id. at 965. With respect to the overall performance of the attorney, "counsel's choice of whether or not to file certain motions, call witnesses, ask certain questions, or make certain objections fall within the ambit of trial strategy" and cannot give rise to an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. Cole v. State, 666 So.2d 767, 777 (Miss. 1995).

The law is clear that anyone claiming ineffective assistance of counsel has the burden of proving, not only that counsel's performance was deficient but also that he was prejudiced thereby. Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S.Ct. 2052, 80 L.Ed.2d 674 (1984). Additionally, the defendant must show that there is a reasonable probability that, but for his attorney's errors, he would have received a different result in the trial court. Nicolaou v. State, 612 So.2d 1080, 1086 (Miss. 1992). Finally, the court must then determine whether counsel's performance was both deficient and prejudicial based upon the totality of the circumstances. Carney v. State, 525 So.2d 776, 780 (Miss. 1988).

Belk would assert that the following instances demonstrate that he suffered ineffective assistance of counsel during his trial. First, Belk would assert that his trial counsel advised allowed him to plea guilty to an indictment which counsel plainly knew had been altered and amended, outside the jurisdiction of the Court and the grand jury, by the state writing in the name of Debra Cunningham, as the individual who Belk had allegedly sold drugs, too. This insufficient defective indictment was never brought to the attention of the trial court before or though out this guilty plea hearing.

Belk's attorney did not address the issue when he was confronted with it by Belk before the guilty plea proceedings. Defense counsel should have better presented Belk's case and should have advised Belk that the indictment had been changed by the state without authorization. Moreover, defense counsel should have filed a motion to the trial court reflecting this action by the state and moved the court to dismiss the proceedings.

Next, Belk's would assert that his attorney's failure to seek out and interview defense witnesses in preparation for an actual trial represents ineffective assistance since it demonstrates that defense counsel had no intentions of defending Belk at trial but sought a plea of guilty to an invalid indictment from the very start. Defense counsel never provided Belk with any discovery materials of who the state intended to call at trial. An attorney is ineffective when he fails to

Payton v. State, 708 So.2d 559 (Miss. 1998); Woodward v. State, 635 So.2d 805, 813 (Miss. 1993) (Smith, J. dissenting); Yarbrough v. State, 529 So.2d 659 (Miss. 1988); Neal v. State, 525 So.2d 1279 (Miss. 1987).

In the instant case now before this Court, Belk would assert that his counsel's actions of allowing the plea proceedings to proceed without This court should find deficiency of counsel as well as prejudice to the defendant unless the record can show that Belk was told about the unauthorized amendment and waived this right and elected to proceed with the plea after being fully advised of the defect. The record contains no such evidence and this court should find that Belk suffered ineffective assistance of counsel. Defense counsel should have filed a demurr to the indictment at the commencement of the proceedings where the indictment was returned with charging the name of the person who was alleged to have purchased the drugs and where the indictment was subsequently changed and altered by the state. This Court therefore cannot hold here as it held in Jackson v. State because defendant has proven prejudice since had counsel acted appropriately before or during the proceedings there would have been a different result as to who was on trial.

In <u>Ward v. State</u>, \_\_\_ So.2d \_\_\_ (Miss. 1998) (96-CA-00067), the Supreme Court held the following:

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