## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

FILED

SEP - 8 2008

Office of the Clerk Supreme Court Court of Appeals

#### **KENTRIAL BELK**

VS.

#### STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLANT

NO. 2008-CP-0300-COA

APPELLEE

# **BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

#### APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: W. GLENN WATTS SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

#

STATEMENT OF FACTS
SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
THIS ISSUE WAS WAIVED. AND THE RECORD REFLECTS THAT BELK WAS PROPERLY INDICTED
PROPOSITION II
THERE WAS NO MERIT TO BELK'S OTHER CLAIMS 10
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

# **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

•

ĸ

# FEDERAL CASES

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 66	8, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2064-65,
80 L. Ed. 2d 674, 693-95 (1984)	

# STATE CASES

Ahmad v. State, 603 So. 2d 843, 848 (Miss. 1992)11
Barnwell v. State, 567 So. 2d 215, 221-222 (Miss. 1990)
Branch v. State, 347 So. 2d 957, 958 (Miss. 1977)9
Brooks v. State, 573 So. 2d 1350, 1352 (Miss. 1990)
Clark v. State , 503 So. 2d 277, 280 (Miss. 1987)
Ferguson v. State, 507 So. 2d 94, 97 (Miss. 1987)
Gable v. State, 748 So. 2d 703, 706 (Miss. 1999) 12
Handley v. State, 574 So.2d 671, 684 (Miss.1990)10
Johnson v. State, 154 Miss. 512, 122 So. 529 (1929)9
Leatherwood v. State, 473 So.2d 964, 968-69 (Miss.1985)10
Lindsay v. State, 720 So. 2d 182, 184 (Miss. 1998)
McQuarter v. State, 574 So. 2d 685, 687 (Miss. 1990)11
Mowdy v. State, 638 So. 2d 738, 743 (Miss 1994)12
Nicolau v. State, 612 So. 2d 1080, 1086 (Miss. 1992)11
Stringer v. State, 454 So. 2d 468, 476-477 (Miss. 1984)11
Swington v. State 742 So.2d 1106, *1117 (Miss.1999)10
Vielee v. State, 653 So. 2d 920. 922 (Miss 1995)11
Young , 731 So. 2d 738, 743 (Miss. 1994)

## IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### **KENTRIAL BELK**

#### APPELLANT

VS.

#### STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

# APPELLEE

NO. 2008-CP-0300-COA

#### **BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE**

#### **PROCEDURAL HISTORY:**

On July 11, 2006, Kentrial Belk, "Belk" pled guilty to sale of cocaine before the Circuit Court of Clay County, the Honorable Lee J. Howard presiding. C.P. 63. After advising and questioning Belk and his counsel, Mr. Thad Buck, the trial court found that his guilty plea was voluntarily and intelligently entered. C. P. 69-70. Belk was sentenced to serve a ten year sentence in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. C.P. 14.

On December 28, 2007, Belk filed for "Post Conviction Relief," complaining of an alleged defective indictment. C.P. 28-60. The trial court denied relief, finding no merit to any of Belk's various related claim. C.P. 71. Belk filed notice of appeal to the Mississippi Supreme Court. C.P. 72.

# **ISSUES ON APPEAL**

# I. WAS BELK PROPERLY INDICTED?

.

.

II. WAS THERE ANY MERIT TO BELK'S OTHER RELATED CLAIMS FOR RELIEF?

#### STATEMENT OF FACTS

On October 5, 2005 Belk was indicted for two sales of cocaine to Debra Cunningham on or about March 24, 2007 in Clay County by a Clay County Grand jury. C.P. 62. The phrase "to Debra Cunningham" was written between the lines of the otherwise typed indictment. C.P. 62.

On July 11, 2006, Belk pled guilty to sale of count 1 cocaine before the Circuit Court of Clay County, the Honorable Lee J. Howard presiding. C.P. 63.

Belk with the benefit of his guilty plea counsel, Mr. Thad Buck, had filled out and filed a "Petition To Enter A Guilty Plea." After being sworn in, Belk testified that his statements in that petition were true and correct. C.P. 64-65.

The trial court advised Belk of the thirty year maximum sentence for sale of cocaine. C.P.68. Belk admitted that he understood that he was giving up his constitutional rights by pleading guilty. This included his right to a trial with cross examination and a right against self incrimination. C.P. 65-66. He admitted that he had not been coerced or promised anything in exchange for his guilty plea. C.P. 69

Mr. Buck testified that he had advised Belk as stated in his petition to enter a guilty plea. Buck also testified that he had "explained to him the elements of crime to which he is pleading guilty." R. 69. Belk admitted that he was guilty of having sold cocaine "to an individual by the name of Debra Cunningham" on March 24, 2005 in Clay County. C.P. 69.

After advising and questioning Belk and his counsel, Mr. Thad Buck, the trial court found that his guilty plea was voluntarily and intelligently entered. C.P. 69-70. Belk was sentenced to serve a ten year sentence in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections. C.P. 29.

On December 28, 2007, Belk filed a "Motion For Post Conviction Collateral Relief", complaining of an alleged defective indictment. C.P. 28-60. The trial court denied relief, finding no

merit to Belk's claims for relief on any of his indictment related complaints. C.P. 71. Belk filed notice of appeal to the Mississippi Supreme Court. C.P. 72.

•

.

#### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

1. The record reflects that Belk waived all non-jurisdiction issues when he voluntarily and intelligently pled guilty to sale of cocaine. **Brooks v. State**, 573 So. 2d 1350, 1352 (Miss. 1990). In addition, the record , which includes both the indictment against Belk, and the transcript of his guilty plea hearing, indicates that Belk was properly indicted by a Clay County Grand jury. C. P. 62. The appellee would submit that it indicated that Belk clearly knew what he was charged with, as well as the nature of the offense for which he was pleading guilty. He admitted under oath that he was guilty of selling cocaine to Debra Cunningham on March 24, 2005, as stated in the indictment. C.P. 69.

The indictment advised him that on March 24, 2005 he had allegedly sold cocaine in Clay County "to Ms. Debra Cunningham." C.P. 62. The fact that the name of the buyer was written in between the lines of the statement of the facts of the offense does not invalidate an otherwise valid indictment.

The trial court correctly denied relief stating that the phrase "to Debra Cunningham" was completed "prior" to the indictment being signed by the jury foreman. C.P. 71. There is a presumption that the indictment was proper, and that the trial court's ruling was correct. **Clark v. State**, 503 So. 2d 277, 280 (Miss. 1987).

There is no evidence in the record to the contrary. A ten year sentence within the range provided by M.C.A. § 41-29-139 statute for sale of cocaine can not be said to be an illegal sentence. C.P. 29. **Barnwell v. State**, 567 So. 2d 215, 221-222 (Miss. 1990).

2. In Belk's Motion he made other related claims. C.P. 28-60. The record reflects that Belk was given effective assistance of counsel by Mr. Thad Buck. As a result of Buck's efforts on Belk's behalf, Belk is serving a ten year rather than two thirty year sentence without enhanced sentencing.

Belk admitted to having a prior possession of cocaine conviction. C.P. 29; 67-68. This qualified him for an additional enhanced drug related sentence.

In addition, there were no affidavits filed by any witnesses in support of Belk's charges against his guilty plea counsel, Mr. Buck. C.P. 28-60. Belk's statements under oath at his guilty plea hearing are sufficient for showing that he is not entitled to relief either as to any defective indictment or to any ineffective assistance of counsel. C.P. 63-70.

#### ARGUMENT

#### **PROPOSITION I**

# THIS ISSUE WAS WAIVED. AND THE RECORD REFLECTS THAT BELK WAS PROPERLY INDICTED.

Belk believes that the trial court erred when he found his plea voluntarily and intelligently entered. He erred because Belk believes that his indictment for sale of cocaine was improper. It was improper because he thinks the name "Debra Cunningham" was added "after" the original indictment had been issued. Belk believes the name of the buyer was an essential element of the sale of cocaine charge against him. Therefore, he believes his indictment and his guilty plea was defective. Appellant's brief unnumbered, and Motion, page 28-60.

The record indicates that the trial court after advising and questioning Belk and his counsel, Mr. Thad Buck, about his understanding of the sale of cocaine charge and the possible consequences of his guilty plea, found that his plea was voluntarily and intelligently entered. C. P. 69-70. The record indicates that at the guilty plea hearing Belk was twenty eight years old, and had an eleventh grade education. R. 67.

In **Brooks v. State**, 573 So. 2d 1350, 1352 (Miss. 1990), the Court stated that a guilty plea admits "all elements of a guilty charge" and operates as a waiver of all non-jurisdictional defects contained in an indictment.

Brooks, in the wake of his guilty pleas, assails allegedly defective indictments. A valid guilty plea, however, admits all elements of a formal criminal charge and operates as a waiver of all non-jurisdictional defects contained in an indictment against a defendant.

In addition to being waived, the record reflects that the trial court found no merit to Belk's post conviction claim of a defective indictment. C.P. 71. He found that the name of the buyer was added to the indictment "prior" to the indictment being signed by the grand jury foreman. C.P. 71.

In addition, even without the name of the cocaine buyer added the indictment would have still been sufficient under Rule 7.06 of the Uniform Circuit and County Court Rules. Under Rule 7.06 of the Uniform Circuit and County Court Rules, an indictment does not have to include the name of a buyer. It only has to place a defendant on notice as to the approximate time and the place where the offense was allegedly committed.

The trial court's Order denying relief stated as follows:

The petitioner has filed a motion alleging that his indictment was faulty because the name of the person to whom he sold the controlled substance was added to the indictment after the indictment was originally printed. The Court finds that this issue is without merit since the addition o f the name of the buyer to the indictment happened before the indictment was signed by the grand jury foreman. Further the indictment would have been equally valid without the name of the buyer since the indictment was only required to contain the date, on or about, the date of the offense was alleged to have been committed. C.P. 71. (Emphasis by Appellee).

Finally, the record from the guilty plea hearing clearly indicates that Belk stated under oath

that he understood the Constitutional rights he was waiving by pleading guilty. Mr. Buck his guilty plea counsel stated that he had gone over the elements of the sale charge with him, and that he believed Belk understood them. C.P. 64. Belk admitted knowing the thirty year maximum sentence for sale of cocaine. C.P. 68. Belk also stated that he was guilty of having sold cocaine to Debra Cunningham on March 24, 2005. C.P. 69.

Consequently, it would appear to the Appellee that Belk had no basis for claiming any surprise in knowing that Cunningham was the buyer on March 24, 2005 when he sold her cocaine. The name of the buyer on the date of the sale as stated in the indictment was not an element of the crime that was added to the indictment without the benefit of grand jury action, as repeatedly claimed by Belk in his motions, and his appellant's brief. URCCC, rule 7.09.

In Clark v. State, 503 So. 2d 277, 280 (Miss. 1987), this Court stated there is "a

presumption" that a trial court's judgement is correct. The burden is upon an appellant to prove otherwise.

We have held, 'There is a presumption that the judgment of the trial court is correct, and the burden is on the appellant to demonstrate some reversible error to this Court.' **Branch v. State**, 347 So. 2d 957, 958 (Miss. 1977). 'It is the duty of counsel to make more than an assertion, they should state reasons for their propositions, and cite authorities in their support...' **Johnson v. State**, 154 Miss. 512, 122 So. 529 (1929).

The Appellee would submit that this issue was not only waived, the record from the guilty plea hearing indicates that it was also lacking in merit.

#### **PROPOSITION II**

#### THERE WAS NO MERIT TO BELK'S OTHER CLAIMS.

In Belk's appellant brief and in his motion, he also alleged other errors such as ineffective assistance of counsel, illegal sentence, and the failure of the trial court to grant him a hearing on his motion about his alleged defective indictment. Appellant's brief unnumbered, and Motion, page 28-60.

The record and case law cited under proposition I indicates that defects in the indictment were waived when Belk plead guilty. **Brooks**, **supra**. In addition, he admitted that he was familiar with the elements of the sale charge and that he was in fact guilty of having sold cocaine to Debra Cunningham on March 24, 2005 in Clay County. C.P. 69.

As a result of Mr. Buck's efforts on his behalf, Belk is serving a single ten rather than two thirty year sentences. C.P. 29; 68. In addition, the record reflects that although Belk admitted to having a prior possession of cocaine charge, he was not charged with or given enhanced sentencing. C.P. 67-68.

The record indicates that there were no affidavits filed by any witnesses in support of Belk's claims against his guilty plea counsel or the trial court. There was therefore no claim to have facts or witnesses available in support of his claims. C.P. 28-60. See M.C. A. § 99-39-9(1)(e).

In Swington v. State 742 So.2d 1106, \*1117 (Miss.1999), the Supreme Court pointed out that there is a presumption that guilty plea counsel's decisions and actions are strategic in nature not negligent.

**¶**42. Once again, there is a presumption that counsel's decisions are strategic in nature, rather than negligent. See **Handley v. State**, 574 So.2d 671, 684 (Miss.1990); **Leatherwood v. State**, 473 So.2d 964, 968-69 (Miss.1985).

In Lindsay v. State, 720 So. 2d 182, 184 (Miss. 1998), the Supreme Court stated that where

a petitioner has "only his own affidavit" against his counsel, his ineffective assistance claim will fail.

The only affidavits in the record that suggest appellant's counsel was deficient are those filed by Lindsay. This is not enough to prove ineffective assistance. In a case involving Post Conviction Relief, this court has held "that where a party offers only his affidavit, then his ineffective assistance of counsel claim is without merit. Vielee v. State, 653 So. 2d 920. 922 (Miss 1995). Se also Brooks v. State, 573 So. 2d 1350 (Miss 1990)...

For Belk to be successful in his ineffective assistance claim, he must satisfy the two-pronged test set forth in **Strickland v. Washington**, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 2064-65, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674, 693-95 (1984) and adopted by this Court in **Stringer v. State**, 454 So. 2d 468, 476-477 (Miss. 1984). Belk must prove: (1) that his counsel's performance was deficient, and (2) that this supposed deficient performance prejudiced his defense.

The burden of proving both prongs rests with Belk . McQuarter v. State, 574 So. 2d 685, 687 (Miss. 1990). Finally, Belk must show that there is a reasonable probability that but for the alleged errors of his counsel, his guilty plea and/or sentence would have been different. Nicolau v. State, 612 So. 2d 1080, 1086 (Miss. 1992), Ahmad v. State, 603 So. 2d 843, 848 (Miss. 1992).

The second prong of the **Strickland v. Washington**, 466 U.S. 668, 685, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984) is to determine whether there is "a reasonable probability" that but for the alleged errors of his counsel, Mr. Buck, the result of Belk's guilty plea would have been different. This is to be determined from "the totality of the circumstances" involved in his case.

Appellee would submit that based upon the record we have cited, there is a lack of evidence for holding that there is a reasonable probability that Mr. Thad Buck erred in advising, and assisting Belk in filing out a guilty plea petition and pleading guilty under oath before the Circuit Court of Clay County. The record from that guilty plea hearing indicates that Belk has failed to met his burden of proof. In Ferguson v. State, 507 So. 2d 94, 97 (Miss. 1987), quoting Strickland, 466 U S at 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052. The Court held "a deficient performance", should it be established with record evidence, would have to be grave enough to "undermine confidence" in the fairness and reliability of the entire guilty plea proceeding.

Although it need not be outcome determinative in the strict sense, it [deficient assistance of counsel] must be grave enough to 'undermine confidence' in the reliability of the whole proceeding.

In Gable v. State, 748 So. 2d 703, 706 (Miss. 1999) the court in affirming the trial court's

dismissal of Gable's contentions without a hearing quoted Mowdy v. State, 638 So. 2d 738, 743

(Miss 1994):

Great weight is given to statements made under oath and in open court during sentencing. **Young**, 731 So. 2d 738, 743 (Miss. 1994). The transcript of Gable's guilty plea hearing belies his current contentions. Furthermore, Gable produced no affidavits other than his own contradicting his earlier sworn statements. Because the only support offered by Gable is his own affidavit which is contradicted by unimpeachable documents in the record, we conclude that an evidentiary hearing was not required. Accordingly, we affirm the trial court's judgment denying Gable post conviction relief.

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